TGEGKXGF.'94; 4235'38-4: -53."Vj qo cu'F0J cm'Ergtm'Uwr tgo g'Eqwtv

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC12-2314

RUBY SAUNDERS, individually,
and as Personal Representative of the
Estate of Walter Saunders,

Petitioner,

v.

WILLIS DICKENS, M.D.,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT
COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

EATON & WOLK, PL
BY: DOUGLAS F. EATON
FBN: 0129577
Attorneys for Petitioner
One Biscayne Tower, Suite 3100
2 South Biscayne Boulevard
Miami, Florida 33131
Telephone: (305) 249-1640
Telecopier: (786) 221-2009
Email: deaton@eatonwolk.com

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. An overview

Ruby Saunders' husband, Walter Saunders, now deceased, presented to Dr. Willis Dickens, a neurologist, on July 7, 2003, complaining of difficulty walking.¹ According to Plaintiffs' experts, Walter Saunders was suffering from cervical cord compression that would eventually lead to quadriplegia. Dr. Dickens ordered MRIs of the brain and the lower back, but not the neck, and then referred him to a neurosurgeon, Dr. Guillermo Pasarin. Without ordering further studies, Dr. Pasarin elected to surgically treat the lumbar disc disease he saw on the lumbar films.

Mr. Saunders failed to improve after the first surgery, so in late September 2003, Dr. Pasarin ordered further MRIs of Mr. Saunders' back and neck. The new MRIs revealed cervical cord compression. As a result, Dr. Pasarin recommended that Mr. Saunders have cervical decompression surgery. For various reasons, Mr. Saunders did not end up having the surgery, and he progressed to quadriplegia.

The Plaintiffs sued Dr. Pasarin, Dr. Dickens and others, alleging that their negligence in failing to properly diagnose and treat Mr. Saunders' cervical cord compression in July 2003 led to Mr. Saunders quadriplegia. Plaintiffs settled with all defendants except Dr. Dickens. The case proceeded to trial in late 2009.

At trial, Plaintiffs' experts testified that Dr. Dickens should have ordered an

¹ The statement of the case and facts is summarized from the face of the decision sought to be reviewed. (App 1-4)

MRI of the neck, which would have revealed the cervical cord compression and would have prompted a reasonable neurosurgeon to perform neck surgery as soon as possible, and that the surgery would have prevented Mr. Saunders' quadriplegia.

Dr. Dickens' defense was primarily based on testimony elicited from Dr. Pasarin, which (unbeknownst to the jury) was given when Dr. Pasarin was still a defendant in the case. Dr. Pasarin testified that even if Dr. Dickens had provided him with an MRI of the neck showing cord compression and reported the upper extremity symptoms he found, Dr. Pasarin still would not have done anything differently with respect to his care and treatment.

At the close of the evidence, Dr. Dickens moved for a directed verdict, which was denied, arguing that under *Ewing v. Sellinger*, 758 So.2d 1196 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000), Dr. Pasarin's testimony made it impossible for the Plaintiffs to prove that Dr. Dickens' negligence was a cause of harm to Mr. Saunders because it broke the causal chain.

During closing argument, defense counsel's central argument was that the Plaintiffs did not meet their burden to prove causation, relying on Dr. Pasarin's testimony that he would not have acted differently even if had been made aware of upper body symptoms and had seen an MRI of Mr. Saunders' cervical spine showing cord compression in July 2003. Defense counsel argued, over Plaintiffs' objection, that it was Plaintiffs' burden to prove that "[b]ut for Dr. Dickens not

doing the MRI, the neck MRI, Dr. Pasarin would have operated on Mr. Saunders' neck in July. That is what the plaintiffs claim must be and it hasn't remotely come close." The jury returned a defense verdict.

Plaintiffs appealed the defense verdict and argued that while the closing argument may have been permissible in the Fourth District under *Ewing v. Sellinger*, 758 So. 2d 1196 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000), it would not have been permissible in the Third or Fifth Districts as a result of two cases decided subsequent to *Ewing* -- *Muñoz v. South Miami Hospital, Inc.*, 764 So.2d 854 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000) and *Goolsby v. Qazi*, 847 So.2d 1001 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003). The district court acknowledged the existence of the conflict but declined to act upon it, and affirmed the judgment based on *Ewing*. The district court denied our subsequent motion to certify conflict. This Court granted our Petition for discretionary review.

B. Medical chronology.

While this case presents a pure question of law, it is nevertheless important for the Court to familiarize itself with the undisputed medical chronology and the respective theories of liability and causation set forth by both parties. First, we will provide a summary of the undisputed facts, which we have drawn from the medical records admitted into evidence at trial. (R.811-813) Walter Saunders presented to Willis Dickens on July 7, 2003, complaining of difficulty walking and

numbness in his hands and feet. Dr. Dickens performed a neurological exam and found symptoms in both Mr. Saunders' upper and lower extremities, bilaterally. Thinking Mr. Saunders may have had a stroke, Dr. Dickens first ordered an MRI of the brain which came back negative. A stroke could have explained the complaints in both the arms and the legs. (T.116) He next ordered an MRI of the low back, which revealed lumbar disc disease, but which would only explain Mr. Saunders' leg complaints. (T. 62-63) He did not order an MRI of the neck, which would have shown radiographic evidence of cervical cord compression, which the Plaintiffs alleged was the root of all Mr. Saunders' problems. (T. 35-36, 176-178)

Dr. Dickens ordered a neurosurgical consult from Dr. Guillermo Pasarin. Dr. Pasarin saw Mr. Saunders on July 10, 2003 and performed his own examination. He did not document any upper extremity findings. He reviewed the Lumbar MRI films. He failed to review Dr. Dickens' examination note or discuss the case with Dr. Dickens. (T. 678-679) On July 15, 2003, without considering any other potential cause for Mr. Saunders' gait disturbance, Dr. Pasarin opted to perform surgery -- an L3-S1 laminectomy. The surgery did not result in material improvement for Mr. Saunders. It was also done improperly. Unfortunately, Dr. Pasarin failed to remove the lamina at L5-S1, which was the area of greatest nerve root constriction.

Mr. Saunders remained in the hospital until the end of July, at which point

he was discharged to a rehabilitation facility. During a September 11, 2006 office visit, Dr. Pasarin ordered an MRI of his neck, mid-back and lower back, for the sake of “completeness.” (T.683) He ordered these films even though Mr. Saunders had yet to exhibit upper body symptoms in Dr. Pasarin’s presence. (T.683) The September 27, 2003 MRIs demonstrated that Mr. Saunders had severe cervical cord compression and also that the lumbar surgery had not been successful. At this point, Dr. Pasarin belatedly determined that Mr. Saunders needed cervical cord decompression surgery and sent Mr. Saunders for medical clearance. Mr. Saunders was medically cleared on October 28. Despite being cleared, Dr. Pasarin failed to schedule the surgery.

Having been in a wheelchair for several months as a result of his cervical cord compression, on December 11, Mr. Saunders developed a deep venous thrombosis in his leg and was readmitted into Broward General. Because of the DVT, he was no longer a surgical candidate. Because his cervical cord compression remained untreated, his condition progressed from paraplegia to partial quadriplegia. Mr. Saunders returned to Broward General in January 2007, where he came under the care of another neurosurgeon, Dr. Amos Stoll. Dr. Stoll ordered MRIs of the neck and low back, determined that the lumbar surgery was incomplete and needed revision, and determined that Mr. Saunders also needed cervical cord decompression surgery. He elected to perform the lumbar surgery

first. Mr. Saunders did not see any improvement from the surgery. Mr. Saunders was unable to undergo the cervical surgery, and he remained paralyzed up until the date of trial. He passed away on April 5, 2010.

Unsurprisingly, the Plaintiffs' experts and Defendant's experts presented two entirely different opinions on liability and causation. First, we will summarize the Plaintiffs' experts' opinions and then we will summarize the Defense experts' opinions.²

C. Plaintiffs' theory of liability and causation.

Plaintiffs first presented the testimony of Dr. Dan Cohen, a spinal surgeon who examined Mr. Saunders. Dr. Cohen testified that Mr. Saunders' was an "ASIA B" quadriplegic, which could not result from lumbar nerve injury. (T. 32) Instead, Mr. Saunders' quadriplegia was caused by cord compression at the C4-5 level of his neck. (T. 33) Cord compression is caused by damaged discs pressing on the spinal cord. If not relieved, the pressure can lead to paralysis. Dr. Cohen

² In the Fourth District, Dr. Dickens incorrectly argued that the facts must be stated in the light most favorable to Dr. Dickens as the prevailing party, citing to *Smith-Barney, Inc. v. Potter*, 725 So.2d 1223, 1224 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999). This standard is only applicable when the basis for a challenged holding is a disputed fact. See *Burmeister v. American Motorists Insurance Co.*, 403 So.2d 541, 542 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981); *Atlas Properties v. Didich*, 213 So.2d 278 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978); and *Sasser v. Humana of Florida, Inc.*, 404 So.2d 856 (1st DCA 1981). The primary issue on appeal is a pure question of law. Thus, this standard has no applicability in this appeal. In any event, the underlying facts in this case were essentially undisputed. The dispute arose in determining the meaning of those facts.

testified that had Mr. Saunders' neck been operated on to remove the compression in July 2003, when Mr. Saunders first presented to Dr. Dickens, Mr. Saunders would not have progressed to quadriplegia. (T. 46-47) Dr. Cohen testified that the reasonable response to cervical cord compression like Mr. Saunders' was to decompress it as soon as possible. (T. 48)

Dr. Cohen noted that there were numerous symptoms in Dr. Dickens' initial history and physical note on July 7, 2003 that could not be explained by lumbar spine disease. (T. 62-63) For example, Dr. Cohen testified that the problems that Mr. Saunders had with his bowel and bladder were related to a cervical cord injury, not the lumbar spine injury. (T. 64)

Plaintiffs next presented the testimony of Dr. Daniel Hanley, a neurologist from John Hopkins Medical School. Dr. Hanley testified that Dr. Dickens breached the standard of care by failing to order an MRI of Mr. Saunders' neck after his initial evaluation. (T. 110) Dr. Hanley explained that the standard of care requires neurologists attempting to diagnose conditions like Mr. Saunders' to cover all of the areas that could be responsible for the symptoms, starting with the brain, then the neck, then the thoracic spine, and finally the lumbar spine. (T. 113-116) Dr. Dickens jumped from the brain to the lumbar spine, passing over the neck, even though many of Mr. Saunders' symptoms could not be explained by lumbar disc disease. (T. 117, 123-131) These symptoms would have prompted a

reasonably prudent neurologist to look at Mr. Saunders' neck as a potential cause. (T. 117) Dr. Hanley opined that had Mr. Saunders been properly diagnosed and treated in July 2003, his condition would have stayed the same or improved, and he would not have spent the remainder of his life in a wheelchair. (T. 178-179)

Under cross-examination, defense counsel attempted to establish areas where Dr. Pasarin had fallen below the standard of care. Dr. Hanley testified that Dr. Pasarin was required to review Dr. Dickens' notes, perform his own examination of the patient, order all necessary exams, and follow the patient after surgery. (T. 203-210) When questioned on the type of neurosurgical procedure that should have been used for Mr. Saunders, Dr. Hanley conceded that he would defer to a neurosurgeon on such issues. However, he would not defer on the fact that the neurological symptoms found by Dr. Dickens meant that Mr. Saunders needed cervical decompression surgery. If Dr. Pasarin disagreed, Dr. Hanley testified that the standard of care required Dr. Dickens to obtain a second opinion from a different neurosurgeon. (T. 211-214)

On re-direct, Dr. Hanley testified that Dr. Pasarin missed Mr. Saunders' upper body symptoms because he did not perform a thorough examination in his initial workup of Mr. Saunders. (T. 244) He noted that Dr. Pasarin himself had written in his October 3, 2003 note that had he learned of Mr. Saunders' problems in his hands in July 2003, then Dr. Pasarin would have ordered an MRI of the neck.

(T. 246-247) Dr. Hanley testified that if an MRI of the neck had been done in July, Mr. Saunders' cord compression would have been diagnosed, surgery would have occurred, and Mr. Saunders' quadriplegia would have been prevented. (T. 248)

During the Plaintiffs' case in chief, Plaintiffs also read into evidence testimony from the Defendant's experts, Dr. Gary Danielson and Dr. Alan Herskowitz. First, Dr. Danielson, a neurosurgeon, agreed that in July 2003, Walter Saunders was suffering from cervical myelopathy. (T. 263) He agreed that the weakness that was found in Mr. Saunders' legs was unrelated to any condition other than cervical cord compression. (T. 264) He agreed that Dr. Pasarin's surgical error (leaving the L5-S1 lamina intact in the initial surgery) did not cause Mr. Saunders' quadriplegia because the L5-S1 lesion was not Mr. Saunders' problem. (T. 265-266) Finally, he agreed that the standard of care required that cervical decompression surgery be performed sooner rather than later once the condition was diagnosed. (T. 266)

Dr. Herskowitz, a neurologist, agreed that Dr. Dickens never reached a diagnosis for the findings in Mr. Saunders' hands during the July 7 exam. (T. 267) He agreed that during the July hospital admission, Dr. Dickens was the captain of the ship and was ultimately responsible for Mr. Saunders' treatment. His responsibility did not end when Dr. Pasarin became involved. (T. 268) Dr. Herskowitz also confirmed that he, a neurologist, discusses his patients with

neurosurgeons prior to their surgery. (T. 268) Finally, on Cross Examination, Dr. Dickens admitted a diagnosis of cervical myelopathy can be made based simply on radiologic findings of cord compression and a gait disturbance, *in the absence of other neurological symptoms*. (T. 466-467)

D. Defendant's theory of liability and causation.

The Defendant first offered the testimony of Dr. Gary Danielson, a neurosurgeon. In direct contradiction of his deposition testimony, read in the Plaintiffs' case in chief, Dr. Danielson testified that all of Mr. Saunders' major complaints on July 7, including his difficulty walking, could be explained by the findings in the lumbar MRI and that his primary problem at this time was his back, not his neck. (T. 314, 346, 380) Dr. Danielson testified that it was entirely appropriate to operate on the lumbar spine at that time. (T. 315-316) Dr. Danielson testified that even considering the upper body findings identified in Dr. Dickens' note, it was still appropriate to perform low back surgery. (T. 318)

Dr. Danielson also opined that Dr. Paserin deviated from the surgical standard of care by leaving the L5-S1 lamina intact. According to him, in addition to leading to a second lumbar surgery, this deviation also caused additional injury, including continued pain, weakness and numbness. (T. 327-328, 413-414) Dr. Danielson admitted that once Dr. Paserin diagnosed the cervical cord compression in October, it was important to operate as quickly as possible. (T. 353-354) The

failure to do so violated the standard of care and caused additional damage to Mr. Saunders. (T. 357)

Dr. Danielson opined that Mr. Saunders' outcome from neck surgery in November 2003 would have been the same as the outcome from neck surgery in July 2003. (T. 358) He went on to suggest that if Dr. Pasarin had, in fact, performed the lumbar surgery correctly in July, Mr. Saunders would have had a greater return of function, which would have prevented Dr. Pasarin from diagnosing the cervical cord compression until October 2003, because Dr. Pasarin (unlike Dr. Dickens) failed to detect any upper body symptoms until that date. (T. 358-359) He also opined that if Dr. Pasarin had done the surgery correctly the first time, Dr. Stoll would only have been left with the neck surgery to perform, which would have increased the odds of that procedure going forward in January 2004. (T. 361)

Dr. Dickens testified briefly in his own defense. He maintained that none of the upper extremity symptoms he documented on July 7 were related to Mr. Saunders' neck, and that the numbness and the tingling were caused by diabetes. (T. 452, 474) He felt that all of Mr. Saunders' gait difficulties were related to the lumbar spine. (T. 461)

Dr. Herskowitz was offered as the Defendant's neurology expert. His opinion was that all of Mr. Saunders' gait problems were related to his lumbar disc

disease. (T. 547, 551) He did not believe that Mr. Saunders had any symptoms related to cervical cord compression in July 2003. (T. 549)

Finally, the jury heard from Dr. Pasarin via deposition. Dr. Pasarin believed that Mr. Saunders suffered from two problems occurring at two different times. In July 2003, Mr. Saunders was suffering from lumbar disc disease. In September 2003, he began suffering from cervical cord compression. (T. 650, 660) After making the diagnosis of cervical cord compression in October 2003, Dr. Pasarin felt that decompression of the cervical spine should have been done within a month. (T. 604, 625) He felt that Mr. Saunders' outcome from neck surgery would have been better in October 2003 than it would have been in January 2004. (T. 629)

But Dr. Pasarin's most critical testimony, which is the subject of this appeal, arose from questions regarding his potential actions if he had received different information about the patient's condition prior to surgery. Dr. Pasarin testified that the upper extremity findings in Dr. Dickens' July 7 note would not have prompted him to order an MRI of the neck. (T. 661, 676-677)³ He also testified that had Dr.

³ Interestingly, despite Dr. Pasarin's repeated insistence that he would not have looked at Mr. Saunders' neck in the absence of upper body symptoms, (T. 655) this is exactly what he did, as he ordered the MRI of the neck on September 11th in the absence of upper body symptoms. (T. 683) Additionally, this testimony contradicted the statement he made in his office note of October 3rd, 2007, where he stated "If [Mr. Saunders] had told me had any problems with his hands or weakness of his hand, we have likely pursued MRI of the neck before we pursued

Dickens ordered a cervical MRI at that point, and the radiographic findings were identical to those ultimately seen in the September 27 films, Dr. Pasarin would still not have performed neck surgery if *his* exam did not find upper extremity dysfunction. (T. 656)

Essentially, Dr. Pasarin refused to concede that any of the medical evidence that either existed (Dr. Dickens' note) or should have been obtained (the cervical MRI) would have changed his course of conduct. Of course, Dr. Pasarin was a former defendant, a fact the jury was not privy to, and had he testified otherwise, he would have been admitting his own liability.⁴ This testimony was central to Defendant's closing argument, and Plaintiffs contend that the manner it was used in the argument was improper and merits a new trial.

E. Improper closing argument.

At the close of the evidence, the Defendant moved for a directed verdict based on the argument that Dr. Pasarin's testimony made it impossible for the Plaintiffs to prove that Dr. Dickens' negligence was a cause of harm to Mr. Saunders. The court denied this motion. (R.834-863, T.703)

lumbar surgery.” (T.676)

⁴ In contrast, both Dr. Cohen and Dr. Danielson confirmed that the standard of care requires a reasonable neurosurgeon to operate as quickly as possible once the diagnosis is made. (T. 48, 266-267, 353) Dr. Dickens and Dr. Danielson both confirmed that cervical cord compression can initially manifest solely as a gait disturbance. (T.467, 264) Dr. Cohen testified that a patient with symptomatology and radiographic evidence of cord compression is a surgical candidate. (T.40,48)

Defense counsel's primary argument in closing was that Dr. Pasarin's testimony made it impossible for the Plaintiffs to prove that Dr. Dickens' negligence caused injury to Mr. Saunders. This argument was repeated several times. The first argument was properly objected to, and overruled, obviating the need for further objections. The first use of this improper argument was as follows:

MR. WOULFE: But for Dr. Dickens not doing the MRI, the neck MRI, Dr. Pasarin would have operated on Mr. Saunders' neck in July. That is what the plaintiffs claim must be and it hasn't remotely come close.

MR. EATON: Objection, Your Honor. That's not a correct statement of law.

THE COURT: The Court has already instructed the jury on the applicable law in the case.

MR. WOULFE: You must determine that that's the case or otherwise there is no legal cause. (T.798)

Defense counsel immediately followed that argument with an improper argument misstating the respective burdens of proof for each party:

MR. WOULFE: Actually, it's not that they have met their burden of proof with the preponderance of evidence. There is no evidence to support their claim. None.

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