TGEGKGF .; B24235"34-5: -65."Vj qo cu'F0J cm'Ergtm"Uwr tgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC12-2314
Lower Tribunal Case No. 4D09-5302

RUBY SAUNDERS, individually, and as
Personal Representative of the Estate of Walter Saunders,

Petitioner,

v.

WILLIS DICKENS, M.D.,

Respondent.

**ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A
DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA
FOURTH DISTRICT**

**ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENT
WILLIS DICKENS, M.D.**

Nancy W. Gregoire, Esq.
Florida Bar No. 475688
gregoirecourt@kblglaw.com
KIRSCHBAUM, BIRNBAUM,
LIPPMAN & GREGOIRE, PLLC
1301 East Broward Boulevard
Suite 230
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301
Tel: 954.617.2300; Fax: 954.617.2308

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Neither the trial court nor the Fourth District erred in holding that Dr. Dickens' closing argument was permissible, and the admissibility of Dr. Pasarin's testimony was never an issue in either court. Dr. Dickens never argued that Ms. Saunders had to prove that Dr. Pasarin was negligent. Rather, he argued, alternatively: (a) Ms. Saunders failed to prove either negligence or causation because she presented no evidence that a neurosurgeon would have performed cervical spine surgery first even if a cervical spine MRI had been done in July 2003; and (b) he proved lack of causation because his expert neurosurgeon and Dr. Stoll testified that they would have proceeded with surgery just as Dr. Pasarin did even if given a cervical spine MRI. The jury was free to accept either argument without any reference whatsoever to Dr. Pasarin's alleged negligence. Ms. Saunders' inaccurate revision of the evidence and argument did not create a basis for reversal at the Fourth District and does not give this Court conflict jurisdiction.

Similarly, neither the trial court nor the Fourth District departed from Florida law in declining to strike Dr. Dickens' pleadings for failure to comply with section 766.203, Florida Statutes. The Saunders' premature filing forced Dr. Dickens to file his Answer and Affirmative Defenses or suffer default, he completed his compliance before expiration of the extended presuit period, and he had no obligation to even do

so because he had not received all of Mr. Saunders' requested medical records by that time. The Saunders' decision to file suit before expiration of the extended presuit period and statute of limitations did not eliminate Dr. Dickens' right to complete his presuit after suit was filed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE FOURTH DISTRICT DID NOT ERR IN HOLDING THAT DR. DICKENS' CLOSING ARGUMENT WAS A PERMISSIBLE COMMENT ON MS. SAUNDERS' FAILURE TO PROVE CAUSATION AND NOT AN IMPERMISSIBLE BURDEN-SHIFTING ARGUMENT.

A. The standard of review is whether the Court has conflict jurisdiction based on the Opinion's alleged misinterpretation of Florida law.

Dr. Dickens agrees that the Court's review of the Opinion's interpretation of Florida law is de novo (IB18). However, while he understands that the Court has preliminarily accepted conflict jurisdiction, he believes that the jurisdictional issue should be readdressed, because the Opinion neither misinterprets Florida law nor expressly and directly conflicts with any of the cases on which Ms. Saunders relies. *See, e.g., Patrick v. Gatien*, 103 So. 3d 132, 132 (Fla. 2012).³

Furthermore, the standard of review before the Fourth District was abuse of discretion, because the issue framed there by Ms. Saunders was whether she was entitled to new trial based on the allegedly improper closing argument. *See Murphy v. International Robotic Systems, Inc.*, 766 So. 2d 1010, 1030 (Fla. 2000).

³ The arguments that Dr. Dickens makes here were not available to him during the jurisdictional briefing, because he was limited to the face of the Opinion and the cases on which Ms. Saunders relied.

Last, while much of Ms. Saunders' Initial Brief is devoted to suggesting solutions to the alleged error in this case, Dr. Dickens believes that the suggestions should be rejected because at no point in this litigation did Ms. Saunders ever argue that Dr. Pasarin's testimony was inadmissible, speculative, or should be accompanied by a jury instruction. Dr. Dickens believes that there was no error in this case and that the Court should find that it is without jurisdiction.

B. The Fourth District correctly held that Dr. Dickens' closing argument was permissible because it was based on Ms. Saunders' failure to present evidence that any neurosurgeon would have performed cervical spine surgery before lumbar spine surgery and on Dr. Dickens' evidence that a reasonable neurosurgeon would not have done so, not on whether Ms. Saunders failed to prove that Dr. Pasarin was negligent.

Dr. Dickens disagrees that he spent the "vast majority" of his closing argument on causation, or argued that Ms. Saunders was required to prove that Dr. Pasarin would have done "something differently than he testified to," or told the jury that she was required to prove that Dr. Pasarin was negligent (IB18-20). Those contentions are based on Ms. Saunders' misinterpretation of the closing, and they were rejected by both the trial court and the Fourth District. Dr. Dickens also disagrees that Ms. Saunders presented any evidence of what a "reasonable neurosurgeon" would have done, and Dr. Danielson never testified that the cervical spine surgery should have

been done before the lumbar surgery (IB19). Those statements are all based on Ms. Saunders' misunderstanding of the record.

In closing, Dr. Dickens reviewed the evidence, then addressed his own alleged negligence, and then, on causation, first argued that Ms. Saunders presented “[n]o neurosurgery evidence” to link any conduct on his part to Mr. Saunders' injury and then argued that he had presented evidence that a reasonable neurosurgeon would have done just as Dr. Pasarin did even if a cervical spine MRI had been available (T770-825). He never suggested that the issue was Dr. Pasarin's negligence, or that Ms. Saunders was required to prove Dr. Pasarin's negligence, or that the standard of care with respect to Dr. Pasarin was even at issue. His position was that there was no evidence that a reasonably prudent neurosurgeon would have acted any differently than Dr. Pasarin if given a cervical spine MRI (T800). Alternatively, he argued that he presented evidence through his expert neurosurgeon and Dr. Stoll on which the jury could find that a reasonably prudent neurosurgeon would have acted just as Dr. Pasarin did if given a cervical spine MRI (T800-16). Ms. Saunders admits that this is exactly the testimony that Dr. Dickens was required to present (IB32-33).

Only by ignoring all of that evidence and misinterpreting Dr. Dickens' position is Ms. Saunders able to argue that he impermissibly shifted any evidentiary burden to her and that his closing is permissible only in the Fourth District under *Ewing*, 758

So. 2d at 1197-98, but not in the Third or Fifth Districts under *Goolsby v. Qazi*, 847 So. 2d 1001, 1002 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003), and *Munoz ex rel. Munoz v. South Miami Hospital, Inc.*, 764 So. 2d 854, 855-56 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000) (IB19-21). That purported conflict is the basis on which the Court accepted jurisdiction, and Dr. Dickens disagrees both that there is any conflict between the Opinion and *Goolsby* or *Munoz* and that there was any improper argument.

First, even assuming that Dr. Dickens' argument was improper, an assumption with which he disagrees, that does not automatically give the Court conflict jurisdiction. Article V, section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution gives the Court review jurisdiction only of a decision of a district court that "expressly and directly conflicts with a decision" of this Court or another district court "on the same question of law." As the Court said in *Nielsen v. City of Sarasota*, 117 So. 2d 731, 734 (Fla. 1960), conflict jurisdiction is based on the "announcement of a rule of law which conflicts with a rule previously announced" or the "application of a rule of law to produce a different result in a case which involves substantially the same controlling facts as a prior case." Here, neither exists, because the Opinion does not expressly and directly conflict with *Goolsby* or *Munoz* or state a rule of law contrary to the rule stated in either case.

Unlike this case, *Ewing*, *Goolsby*, and *Munoz* were decided at the trial level as a matter of law on similar facts. In *Ewing*, 758 So. 2d at 1196, the trial court entered directed verdict in favor of a treater based on a subsequent treater's testimony that he would have done nothing differently if given certain missing information. In *Goolsby*, 847 So. 2d at 1003, the trial court entered directed verdict in favor of a treater based on a plaintiff's failure to present evidence that a subsequent treater would have acted differently if given certain missing information. In *Munoz*, 764 So. 2d at 855, the trial court entered summary judgment in favor of a treater based on a subsequent treater's testimony that the missing information would have made no difference.

The common theme of the three cases is that the issue of causation was taken from the jury and decided as a matter of law. Where the Third and Fifth Districts disagreed with the Fourth District is the correctness of that outcome. While *Ewing* affirmed the directed verdict in favor of the treater, *Goolsby* and *Munoz* reversed, holding that the testimony of a subsequent treating physician cannot be dispositive on the issue of causation. See *Goolsby*, 847 So. 2d at 1003; *Munoz*, 764 So. 2d at 857.

In *Goolsby*, 847 So. 2d at 1003, the court said: "We disagree with *Ewing* if it means that the negligent failure to diagnose a condition cannot be the cause of damages if a subsequent treater testifies that he would have shrugged off the correct

diagnoses.” In *Munoz*, 764 So. 2d at 855-56, the court explained that the initial treater’s liability “should not have been taken from the jury” based on the speculation of a subsequent treater that the missing information would not have made a difference. And as Judge Klein later noted in *McKeithan ex rel. McKeithan v. HCA Health Services of Florida, Inc.*, 879 So. 2d 47, 49 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004) (Klein, J., concurring specially), *Ewing* is questionable in allowing causation to be taken from the jury. That is the difference between *Ewing* on one hand and *Goolsby* and *Munoz* on the other. But that difference is irrelevant here.

Here, in contrast to *Ewing*, but consistent with *Goolsby* and *Munoz*, the question of causation was presented to the jury, as was the question of negligence. The jury, not the court as a matter of law, found either that Dr. Dickens was not negligent or that his negligence was not the cause of Mr. Saunders’ injury – because it was given only a general verdict form. Ms. Saunders has not argued any error with respect to the jury’s possible finding regarding negligence. While the two-issue rule may not apply, as the Fourth District held, citing *Grenitz v. Tomlian*, 858 So. 2d 999, 1001 (Fla. 2003), that is nevertheless a fundamental difference between this case and *Ewing*, *Goolsby*, and *Munoz*. The Opinion therefore announces no rule of law in conflict with those cases nor allows a different result on the same controlling facts. Because neither of those tests is met, the Court is without conflict jurisdiction.

Furthermore, while it is a federal case and thus cannot give the Court jurisdiction, like the other cases on which Ms. Saunders relies, *Del Valle v. Sanchez*, 170 F. Supp. 2d 1254, 1275 (S.D. Fla. 2001) (IB21), was not a jury verdict. It was

a summary judgment based on a defense argument that a subsequent treater would not have changed his treatment if the missing information had been communicated. *See Id.* Rejecting the argument as a matter of law, the court explained that there was evidence in the record from which a “fact finder can conclude” that the initial physician was negligent. *Id.* at 1276. Here, consistent with *Del Valle*, the fact finder – the jury – found either that Dr. Dickens was not negligent or that his alleged negligence did not cause Mr. Saunders’ injuries.

Second, as Dr. Dickens explained above, his argument was not impermissible. Contrary to Ms. Saunders’ position, Dr. Dickens never argued that she had to prove Dr. Pasarin’s negligence or that of a “*specific subsequent treating physician*” (IB29). He argued that she had to prove that any alleged negligence on Dr. Dickens’ part caused Mr. Saunders’ injury, and she did not do so because she presented no evidence that any reasonably prudent neurosurgeon would have performed the cervical spine surgery before the lumbar surgery if a cervical spine MRI had been done in July 2003.

As Ms. Saunders admits (IB28-29), proof that Dr. Dickens’ alleged negligence more likely than not caused Mr. Saunders’ injury is an element of her case, and that is all that Dr. Dickens ever argued. *See Cox v. St. Josephs Hosp.*, 71 So. 3d 795, 799 (Fla. 2011); *Gooding v. University Hosp. Bldg., Inc.*, 445 So. 2d 1015, 1018 (Fla. 1984). He did not argue that Ms. Saunders was required to prove what Dr. Pasarin would have done – and that is the fundamental difference between Ms. Saunders’ position and the Fourth District’s Opinion. Whether the jury accepted that Ms. Saunders presented no proof of causation or whether it accepted Dr. Dickens’ experts’

testimony is immaterial, because in either event Dr. Dickens' argument was not improper. In the absence of any conflict with *Goosby* or *Munoz*, and in the absence of any improper closing argument, the Court should decline jurisdiction.

C. Whether Dr. Pasarin's testimony should have been admitted was not before the trial court, was not before the Fourth District, and should not be considered here.

As Ms. Saunders' Initial Brief makes clear (IB22-39), her real focus is not on any conflict with *Goosby* or *Munoz* or whether Dr. Dickens' argument is impermissible. It is on whether Dr. Pasarin's testimony is admissible. The Court should not entertain that issue, Ms. Saunders' suggestions regarding handling that issue in the future, or the Florida Justice Association's similar amicus suggestions, for a number of reasons.

First, Ms. Saunders never raised any challenge to the admissibility of Dr. Pasarin's testimony, or called it speculative, or demanded that it be accompanied by a jury instruction, either before the trial court or before the Fourth District, and it is not the issue on which she sought conflict jurisdiction. While the Court may address any issue properly raised before it once its jurisdiction is secured, as a rule it declines to do so unless the issue has first been presented to the lower courts, as it was in the cases on which Ms. Saunders relies but which it was not in this case. *See Major League Baseball v. Morsani*, 790 So. 2d 1071, 1080 n26 (Fla. 2001); *Jones v. State*, 908 So. 2d 615, 621 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005); *All American Pool Surface, Inc. v. Jordan*, 870 So. 2d 885, 886 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004). That should be the response here.

Second, even if the admissibility of Dr. Pasarin’s testimony were preserved below, argued before the Fourth District, or the basis of Ms. Saunders’ argument for conflict jurisdiction, the Court should decline to review it in this case because the Court cannot confirm that it was the basis for the jury’s verdict given the testimony of Dr. Dickens’ neurosurgical expert and Dr. Stoll, Mr. Saunders’ treating neurosurgeon, that they also would not have performed the cervical spine surgery first. Whether or not Dr. Pasarin’s testimony had any effect on the verdict is, therefore, irrelevant because the verdict was otherwise supported by substantial competent evidence. Because the admissibility of Dr. Pasarin’s testimony is beyond the scope of the alleged conflict, the Court should decline to address it. *See Bifulco v. Patient Business & Financial Services, Inc.*, 39 So. 3d 1255, 1256 (Fla. 2010) (declining review of a claim beyond the scope of the conflict).

Third, whether *Ewing* was correctly decided or conflicts with any other Florida case is not before the Court (IB22, 26).⁴ Nor is whether *Munoz* incorrectly uses the label “speculative” in referring to the subsequent treater’s testimony or in allowing its admission for the jury’s consideration (IB22-24, 27 n8). On the effect of the testimony, Ms. Saunders argues that both *Munoz* and *Sta-Rite Industries, Inc. v. Levey*, 909 So. 2d 901, 905-06 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004), hold that it “cannot be used to break the causal chain *as a matter of law*” (IB23). Dr. Dickens agrees, which may be the fundamental problem with *Ewing* and is the difference between it and *Goolsby*

⁴ The Court denied review. *See Ewing v. Sellinger*, 789 So. 2d 345 (Fla. 2001).

and *Munoz*.⁵ But that error did not occur here, because there was no decision by the trial court as a matter of law. Ms. Saunders' argument to the contrary confuses the concept of legal rulings with a jury's finding based on the same evidence (IB23-24).

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